RECEIVED

03-06-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 4

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent, v. Appeal No. 2016AP002225 DUSTIN M. SHERMAN Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A REFUSAL CONVICTION ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY THE HONORABLE TODD WOLF, PRESIDING BRIEF OF DUSTIN M. SHERMAN

Respectfully submitted,
John Matousek
Attorney for Defendant
Matousek & Laxton Law Office
123 N. Water Street
Sparta, WI 54656
(608) 269-0501
State Bar No.: 1009195

ISSUE

1. Did the police officer have reasonable suspicion or probable cause to stop the vehicle in which Mr. Sherman was driving due to dim taillights?

The trial court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant believes that the Court can decide the issues based on the briefs and the need for oral argument is not necessary in this matter. Furthermore, publication is most likely not warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. §809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 21, 2016, the defendant was stopped by Jason King, a police officer with the City of Neillsville. The officer indicates that he conducted a traffic stop on the defendant because the defendant's taillights were dim (transcript page 12, line 19-22)¹. Once he conducted the traffic stop and walked up to the defendant's vehicle, he was able to see that there was a type of covering over the taillights. The officer was unable to observe this covering until he was right next to the vehicle (transcript page 15, line 7-18)² and the officer's testimony admits that he never suspected there to be a covering on the taillights (transcript page 20, line 20-25)³. The defendant was arrested for an OWI 1st offense and when asked to give an evidentiary chemical test of his blood, he refused.

¹ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 12 is included as page App 1 in the Appendix

² A copy of motion hearing transcript page 15 is included as page App 2 in the Appendix.

³ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 20 is included as page App 3 in the Appendix.

On May 11, 2016, defense counsel filed a motion to suppress evidence alleging that there was no reasonable suspicion or probable cause for the traffic stop in regards to the operating while intoxicated charge. If the court found that there was no reasonable suspicion or probable cause for the traffic stop, the refusal would be found reasonable. On September 30, 2016, that motion hearing took place along with the refusal hearing.

At the hearing, defense counsel argued that there was no reasonable suspicion or probable cause as the lights were clearly visible within 500 feet and beyond (transcript page 20, line 10–19)⁴. The fact that the taillights were merely dim, yet clearly visible, was not enough for reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle.

The defense called a retired police officer from Clark County Sheriff's Department to testify. Defense counsel had the witness observe the same vehicle on the same street in which the traffic stop was conducted on the night before the hearing during the hours of darkness (transcript page 25, line 19-25, page 26, line 1-6)⁵. The witness testified that he was able to clearly see the taillights of the vehicle from approximately 1,584 feet away (transcript page 27, line 17-19)⁶. The witness further testifies that the brightness of taillights vary based on the vehicle and the year of the vehicle (transcript page 28, line 12-14).⁷ The prosecution argued that the officer had reasonable suspicion to pull the defendant over and probable cause was not necessary.

However, the court denied the motion to suppress and found that the refusal was unreasonable⁸ (and transcript page 54, line 8-9)⁹. On December 21, 2016, a court trial was held in regards to the operating while intoxicated charge and the court found the defendant not guilty of the charge¹⁰. The defendant appeals the refusal conviction.

⁴ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 20 is included as page App 3 in the Appendix.

⁵ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 25 and 26 is included as page App 4 in the Appendix.

⁶ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 27 is included as page App 5 in the Appendix.

⁷ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 28 is included as page App 6 in the Appendix.

⁸ A copy of the judgment of conviction is included as page App 7 in the Appendix.

⁹ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 54 is included as page App 8 in the Appendix.

¹⁰ A copy of the judgment of dismissal/acquittal is included as page App 9 in the Appendix.

ARGUMENT

I. The police officer lacked reasonable suspicion and probable cause to stop the vehicle for dimmed taillights and therefore, all evidence acquired after stop must be suppressed.

When reviewing a motion to suppress, appellate courts apply a two-step standard of review. State v. Pallone, 236 Wis.2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568 (2000). First, an appellate court will uphold a circuit court's findings of historical facts unless those facts are clearly erroneous. Second, an appellate court reviews de novo the application of constitutional principles to those facts.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protects citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. Furthermore, *State v. Popke*, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569 (2009) states "[A] traffic stop is generally reasonable if the officers have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, or have grounds to reasonably suspect a violation has been or will be committed."

Whether reasonable suspicion or probable cause is necessary for a law enforcement officer to stop a vehicle is a question of law. *State v. Kramer*, 2001 WI 132, 248 Wis.2d 1009, 637 N.W.2d 35. "An officer may conduct a traffic stop when he or she has probable cause to believe a traffic violation has occurred." *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis.2d at 605; see also *State v. Whren*, 517 U.S. at 809-10 (stating that a traffic stop is "reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe" there was a traffic violation, such as "No person shall turn any vehicle . . . without giving an appropriate signal" and "No person shall drive a vehicle . . . at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions"); 4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 9.3(a) (4th ed. 2004) (concluding that probable cause for even the slightest traffic violation is legally sufficient to justify a traffic stop). *Id.* Probable cause refers to the "quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that a traffic violation has occurred". *Johnson v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 344, 348, 249 N.W.2d 593 (1977).

Wis. Stat. 347.13(1) provides, in relevant part, as follows:

"(1) No person may operate a motor vehicle [...] upon a highway during hours of darkness or during a period of limited visibility unless the motor vehicle [...] is equipped with at least one tail lamp mounted on the rear which, when lighted during hours of darkness, emits a red light plainly visible from a distance of 500 feet to the rear."

The trial court's finding of fact was that the officer would have to be less than 500 feet to clearly see the taillights due to the dimness of the taillights. The trial court further indicated that upon cross examination it was undetermined the distance at which the taillight was clearly visible.

The trial court opined as follows "I mean, clearly the officer was at different locations. He was far behind the vehicle. He was, you know, he indicated a block and a half at one point in time. He then was at within 300 feet within the same block before he pulled it over. So I was waiting for some explanation when it was brought up here about that it was plainly visible. That was never put in the reference of an actual distance. In other words, so was it plainly visible 500 feet or more? The officer never said that. He indicated that it was plainly visible, but again, not any reference to a distance. So his direct examination was less than 500 feet before he could see it." (transcript page 50, line 1-13)¹¹.

In order for the trial court's decision to be reversed, the fact finding must be clearly erroneous. Here, the trial court failed to consider the context of Officer King's testimony during cross examination.

Attorney Matousek: And when you observed this vehicle albeit they were dim, you could still see the taillights, correct?

Officer King: Yes.

Attorney Matousek: Yes. So in any event, they were clearly visible to you, correct?

Officer King: They were visible, yes.

Attorney Matousek: And clearly visible because you could see them, correct?

Officer King: Yes.

Attorney Matousek: Is that fair to say?

Officer King: Yes.

(transcript page 20, line 10-19)12

¹¹ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 50 is included as page App 10 in the Appendix.

¹² A copy of motion hearing transcript page 20 is included as page App 3 in the Appendix.

It is clear from the question that when Officer King observed the vehicle, albeit, the lights were dim, he could still see the taillights. The testimony is that he observed the vehicle from behind on Division Street and continued to follow him on Highway 10 and then Highway 73 until Sherman's vehicle was pulled over (transcript page 11, line 14-25¹³, transcript page 12, line 1-2)¹⁴. This is continuous observation. Therefore, the trial court's position that it is unclear at what distance the vehicle was dimly lit is clearly erroneous. It is also not relevant because Officer King clearly states when he observes the vehicle, the taillights were dim, but they were still clearly visible to him. Because they were clearly visible, §343.17 does not apply. There is no violation and therefore, no reasonable suspicion to stop Sherman's vehicle and no probable cause.

Officer King's testimony is corroborated by the witness, Officer Myren's testimony in so far as both indicate the taillight was clearly visible. Myren's testimony expands the distance to over 1500 feet of clear visibility of the taillights (transcript page 27, line 17-19)¹⁵. The trial court gives limited weight to Myren's testimony indicating different conditions existed, however, according to the record, both the night of the incident and the night of Myren's viewing were in conditions of complete darkness (transcript page 25, line 19-25 and transcript page 26, line 1)¹⁶.

Both the City and the State argue that the covering of the taillights was a violation of a statute, however, this was not observed until after the initial stop and furthermore, the testimony does not clearly show a violation of that statute. When Officer King turned his lights on to effectuate the stop, the seizure occurred and that seizure lacked reasonable suspicion.

Attorney Matousek: Yes. Okay. And -- and it wasn't -- when you wrote your report and when you first observed this vehicle you didn't put in your report that you stopped the vehicle because you thought it had a cover, lens cover on it, correct?

Officer King: Correct. (transcript page 20, line 20-25)¹⁷

¹³ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 11 is included as page App 11 in the Appendix

¹⁴ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 12 is included as page App 1 in the Appendix.

¹⁵ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 27 is included as page App 5 in the Appendix

¹⁶ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 25 is included as page App 4 in the Appendix

¹⁷ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 20 is included as page App 3 in the Appendix.

The question is whether the facts of this case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. In order to justify a seizure, police must have reasonable suspicion that a crime or violation has been or will be committed; that is, "the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). This reasonable suspicion standard was understood to be a lower standard than probable cause.

State v. Houghton, 346 Wis.2d 234, 848 N.W.2d 904 (2015) states that an investigative stop may be based on reasonable suspicion, but a stop for an observed violation must be based on probable cause. However, Houghton goes on to further state that it is undisputed that a traffic stop must be reasonable under the circumstances. Here, Officer King admits in his own testimony that he could clearly see the taillights (transcript page 20, line 10–19)¹⁸, he did not suspect there to be a covering over the taillights (transcript page 20, line 20-25)¹⁹, and the taillights were the only reason for conducting a traffic stop on Sherman (transcript page 12, line 19-22)²⁰. Therefore, it is clear that this stop was unreasonable under the circumstances.

State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 states that the question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common-sense test. The test is an objective one, and the suspicion must be grounded in specific, articulable facts along with reasonable inferences from those facts. Id. Stated otherwise, to justify an investigatory stop, "the police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is violating the law." Id. Common-sense would not warrant an officer to pull an individual over for having dim, yet clearly visible (per the officer's testimony) taillights. There is nothing specific and articulable when noting that the taillights were dim, yet clearly visible.

Of course, there is the good faith exception under *State v. Houghton*, 346 Wis.2d 234, 848 N.W.2d 904 (2015), however, the good faith exception does not apply

¹⁸ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 20 is included as page App 3 in the Appendix.

¹⁹ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 20 is included as page App 3 in the Appendix.

²⁰ A copy of motion hearing transcript page 12 is included as page App 1 in the Appendix.

here because Officer King does not observe a traffic violation before conducting the traffic stop and that is identified by not only the police report, but also by Officer King's testimony²¹.

This finding was clearly erroneous and cannot support a decision that there was reasonable suspicion for the stop. Absent reasonable suspicion, evidence related to the officer's observations of Sherman's intoxication and his refusal to voluntarily consent to the blood test should have been suppressed.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, because there was no probable cause or reasonable suspicion for a traffic violation, the stop of the vehicle was unconstitutional and the evidence obtained after the stop of the vehicle must be suppressed, and the refusal conviction must be reversed.

For the reasons set forth above, the defendant-appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse the refusal conviction of the circuit court.