STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

08-08-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP002225

Cust 110. 2010111 002220

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Dustin M. Sherman,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A REFUSAL CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CLARK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD P. WOLF PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Holly Wood Webster Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1063967

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Clark County District Attorney's Office 517 Court Street, Room 404 Neillsville, Wisconsin 54456 (715)743-5167

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Did the officer have reasonable suspicion or probable cause to conduct a traffic stop of Sherman's vehicle?

The circuit court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

The plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin (State), requests neither oral argument nor publication.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THERE WAS REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP SHERMAN'S VEHICLE.

A. Introduction

The State believes that the circuit court was correct in finding that Officer Jason King had reasonable suspicion to stop Sherman's vehicle.

B. Applicable legal principles and standard of review

A police officer may conduct a traffic stop when he has probable cause to believe a traffic violation occurred or when he has reasonable suspicion, under the totality of the circumstances, that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 11, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. "The officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the intrusion of the stop." *Id.* at ¶ 23 (citations and quotations omitted). When determining whether a set of facts gives rise to reasonable suspicion, "courts should apply a commonsense approach". *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 15, 241 Wis.2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516.

In reviewing decisions made by a circuit court, Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2) states, in part, "Findings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." As such, the appellate court is "bound not to upset the trial court's findings of historical or evidentiary fact unless they are contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Popke* at ¶ 20 (citing *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis.2d 333, 343, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987)). The application of those facts to constitutional principles, however, is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Kennedy*, 2014 WI 132, ¶ 16, 359 Wis.2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834.

C. Argument

The circuit court found that Officer Jason King's testimony was credible. (App.1 14:15-17). Officer King testified that, on February 21, 2016, he observed Sherman's vehicle traveling southbound on Hewett Street, then westbound on Division Street, in the City of Neillsville, Clark County, Wisconsin. (App.1 1:20-24; 2:8-11). Officer King stated that the vehicle had very, very dim taillights that were hard to see. (App.1 2:15-17). He testified that he followed the vehicle and still had a difficult time seeing the taillights, so he performed a traffic stop. (App.1 2:20-23). When he walked up to the vehicle, he noticed there was a lens covering over the taillights. (App.1 3:8-9). The court specifically noted that the observation of the lens covering added credibility to Officer King's testimony that the taillights were dim. (App.1 14:15-17).

Although not likely relevant, the court also considered the testimony of Allen Myren. Myren testified that, approximately six months after the initial stop, he observed the same vehicle at what he believed to be the same locations as Officer King. (App.1 6:1-8:10). Myren testified that, at a distance of greater than 500 feet, he believed that the tail lamps were clearly visible. (App.1 9:19-23). During cross examination, Myren did admit that the tail lamps were dim and that he could not testify as to whether the road and weather conditions when he observed the vehicle were the

same as the conditions of when Officer King observed the vehicle. (App.1 10:19-21; 11:5-10). The court concluded that Myren's testimony was not actually helpful in that it was not comparing apples to apples. (App.1 14:8-11).

The court found that Officer King had reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle for a violation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13. (App.1 14:23-15:9). Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1) states:

No person may operate a motor vehicle, mobile home, or trailer or semitrailer upon a highway during hours of darkness or during a period of limited visibility unless the motor vehicle, mobile home, or trailer or semitrailer is equipped with at least one tail lamp mounted on the rear which, when lighted during hours of darkness, emits a red light plainly visible from a distance of 500 feet to the rear. No tail lamp may have any type of decorative covering that restricts the amount of light emitted when the tail lamp is in use. No vehicle originally equipped at the time of manufacture and sale with 2 tail lamps may be operated upon a highway during hours of darkness or during a period of limited visibility unless both lamps are in good working order. This subsection does not apply to any type of decorative covering originally equipped on the vehicle at the time of manufacture and sale.

(emphasis added.)

The court's findings were also consistent with Sherman's own testimony. Sherman admitted that there was a cover on the taillights. (App.1 12:4-15). Sherman also admitted that he did not believe the cover was manufacture installed. (App.1 13:16-18). Clearly, the vehicle was in violation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13(1), consistent with Officer's King's observations.

Sherman wants this court to ignore all of the above-referenced testimony and focus on one line where Officer King agreed with Sherman's attorney on cross examination that the taillights were clearly visible because he could see them. (App.1 4:16-17). However, Officer King never wavered on the fact that the taillights were dim, forming the basis for his stop. (App.1 5:1-2). There is nothing clearly erroneous with the circuit court's findings of fact, as Sherman is asking this Court to find.

Wis. Stat. § 347.13 requires that the light from the tail lamps be plainly visible from a distance of 500 feet and that they not have any type of after-manufacture covering that restricts the amount of light emitted. Contrary to Sherman's argument, the fact that Officer King was not able to actually see that there was a cover on the tail lamps until after he stopped the vehicle does not negate the fact that the taillights were dim to a degree that he had difficulty seeing them.

An officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts, which, taken together with the reasonable inferences therefrom, would lead a reasonable person with the knowledge and experience of the officer that a violation is or has occurred. State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 14. Officer King testified to specific, articulable facts as the basis for his stop, specifically that the taillights were so dim that he had difficulty seeing them. Taking the reasonable inferences from those facts, the logical conclusion is that there is a violation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13. As such, Officer King had, at a minimum, reasonable suspicion to believe that the vehicle was in violation of Wis. Stat. § 347.13, regardless of whether he could see the cover on the tail lamps before or after enacting the stop. The fact that there was a cover on the tail lamps only serves to further validate Officer King's observations.

A further concern with reversing the circuit court, as Sherman is requesting, is that it would involve ignoring half of the statute. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin stated in *Brunton v. Nuvell Credit Corporation* that "statutory language is read to give effect to every word, to avoid surplusage and to avoid absurd results." 325 Wis.2d 135, 146, 785 N.W.2d 302, 307 (2010). The Court added that "[i]n construing a statute, we favor a construction that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that undermines the purpose." *Id.* "[A] plain-meaning interpretation cannot contravene a textually or contextually manifest statutory purpose." *Id.* citing *State ex. Rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

Clearly, the legislature intended that individuals not have covers on their tail lamps. It would be difficult to interpret the statutory language any other way. One obvious purpose for this is so that the tail lamps, and, consequently, the vehicle itself, are not difficult to see, such that it could lead to an accident. To not allow an officer to stop a vehicle that has tail lamps that are difficult to see would render that section of the statute essentially void. Without actually enacting a traffic stop, Officer King would not have been able to confirm that there was a cover on the tail lamps, in direct violation of the statute.

CONCLUSION

For all of the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny Sherman's motion and uphold the circuit court's findings that Officer King observed a tail light that was not plainly visible from within 500 feet and that this constituted reasonable suspicion of a violation of Wis. Stat. 347.13, such that the refusal conviction is upheld.